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AO 9 l (Rev. 1 1/1 1 ) Criminal Complaint

U NITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
for the

Southern District of Florida

United States of Am erica

Houssam Hachem,

)

) /5, . ''y,p ora-) C
ase No.

)
)
)
)

CRIM INAL CO M PLAINT

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datets) of 2013through present in the county of Miami-Dade in the

Southern District of Florida , the defendantts) violated:

Code Section

18 U.S.C. j 1956(h)',
31 U.S.C. jj 5324(3)(3)

5324(d)(1) and (2)., and
18 U.S.C. j 2.

Offense Description
Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering', and
Structuring Transactions to Avoid Repoding Requirements.

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

-SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT-

d Continued on the attached sheet. /?/
?' . 

'

W
?I?C 

'W' U
XS

Complainant 's signature

Special Ag nt Daniel McNamara, DEA

rinted me and title

z

udge 's signature

Hon. J hn J. 0' ullivan, U.S. Magistrate Judge

Printed name and title

' Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

/,/ù,1tqDate:
City and state'.
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Iq-B >u 3. ''5-r

AFFIDAVIT

Your Affiant, Daniel M cNam ara, being duly sworn, deposes and states:

I am a Special Agent with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA). l have

been a Special Agent for over three years, and I have been employed by the DEA for six years.

Prior to becom ing a Special Agent, l was an Intelligence Analyst for the DEA. l have received

specialized training on the subject of narcotics trafficking and money laundering from the DEA

and have been personally involved in investigations concerning the possession, manufacture,

distribution, and importation of controlled substances, as well as methods used to finance drug

transactions.

2. This affidavit is subm itted in suppol't of a crim inal complaint against Houssam

HACHEM . As explained below , l respectfully stibm it that there is probable cause to believe that

HACHEM  engaged in a conspiracy to comm it money laundering, based on the specified unlawful

activity of operating an unlicensed m oney transm itter business, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1960, al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h); and

did knowingly and for the purpose of evading the reporting requirements of Title 31, United

States Code, Section 53 13(a), and any regulation promulgated thereunder, structure and assist in

structuring, transactions, that is, cash deposits into HACHEM 'S bartk account, in violation of Title

3 1, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) and 5324(d)(1) and (2), and Title 18, United States

Code, Section 2.

3. Under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1960, it is unlawful for anyone to

knowingly conduct, control, m anage, supervise, direct, or own all or pal't of an unlicensed money

transmitting business. The tenn ktmoney transm itting'' ûtincludes transfening funds on behalf of the

public by any and all means including but not lim ited to transfers within this country or to locations
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abroad by wire, check, draft, facsimile, or courier.'' 18 U.S.C. j 1960(b)(2). The term k'unlicensed

m oney transm itting business'' means a m oney transmitting business which affects interstate or

foreign com merce in any m anner or degree and which fultills at least one of the three other listed

requirements: (1) Sûis operated without an appropriate money transmitting license in a State where

such operation is punishable as a m isdemeanor or a felony under State law, whether or not the

defendant knew that the operation was required to be licensed or that the operation was so

punishablei'' (2) fails to comply with the money transmitting business registration requirements

under section 5330 of title 31, United States Code, or regulations prescribed under such section',

or (3) Ctotherwise involves the transportation or transmission of funds that are known to the

defendant to have been derived from a crim inal offense or are intended to be used to promote or

support unlawful activity.'' Section 5330 detines a idmoney transmitting business'' as a business

that: (A) provides check cashing, currency exchange, or money transmitting or remittance services,

or issues or redeem s money orders, travelers' checks, and other similar instruments or any other

person who engages as a business in the transm ission of funds, including any person who engages

as a business in an infonnal money transfer system or any network of people who engage as a

business in facilitating the transfer of m oney domestically or intem ationally outside of the

conventional financial institutions system', (B) is required to file reports under section 53 13,. and

(C) is not a depositol'y institution (as defined in section 5313(g)). fJ. at j 5330(d)(1).

4. The following information is based upon m y personal knowledge and information

that has been provided to m e by other 1aw enforcement officers. Because this affidavit is being

submitted for the lim ited purpose of establishing probable cause for a crim inal complaint, 1 have

not included each and every fact known to m e or other law enforcem ent officers concelming this

investigation.
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PROBABLE CAUSE

From at least as early as 2013 through the present, HACHEM  conspired with

m oney launderers in South America, the United States, and elsewhere to facilitate the illicit

movem ent of m oney through his balzk accounts and his cell phone businesses, HW GK Enterprises,

Simple W ireless, and Class W ireless, al1 located in M ichigan. Neither HA CHEM , nor any of his

co-conspirators, had a license, as required by law, to operate a money transm itter business in the

State of Florida or elsewhere in the United States.

6. HACHEM  received m illions of dollars in third-party wires sent by intenuediaries he

knew were engaging in m oney transm itting for a fee, unrelated to the sale or purchase of goods

from HACHEM , to obscure the true origin of the funds. HACHEM  and his co-conspirators created

false invoices to conceal the fact that no legitim ate goods were being sold to the third-pal'ty

companies or entities from which HACHEM  was receiving m oney.

M onev Iaundered throueh FARHAT network

One of HACHEM 'S principal co-conspirators was Nader M oham ad FARHAT, the

leader of an extensive m oney laundering organization in the Tri-Border Area of South Am erica, a

region where the borders of Brazil, Argentina and Paraguay converge. FARHAT was charged by

Superseding lndictment with conspiracy to com mit money laundering and substantive m oney

laundering counts in the Southern District of Florida in case number 17-20865-CR-Ruiz(s) and

was also charged with m oney laundering in the Eastern District of New York in case num ber 18-

cr-292. FARI-IAT was arrested in Paraguay on or about M ay 17, 2018, and was extradited to the

United States in June 2019. FARHAT'S cases are currently pending in both districts.

8. The FARHAT investigation began in or around 2013, when a M exico-based m oney

launderer instructed a DEA confidential source (hereinafter ûCCS 1'') to deliver over $500,000 in
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cash that had been picked up in Detroit, m inus comm ission, to a FARHAT associate in M iam i,

Florida. A s a result, DEA began an undercover investigation into FARHAT and his network. As

part of that investigation, from 2014 to 2015, approximately $600,000 in purported dnlg proceeds

were delivered to FARI-IAT or persons directed by FA, RHAT to receive funds on his behalf in

South Florida and Paraguay. During a recorded m eeting at FARHAT'S business' Unique Cam bios
,

in Ciudad Del Este, Paraguay in September 2015, CS1 told FARHAT that the CS works with

ûûnarco money'' and that $iall the m oney is laundered.'' FARI-IAT proposed that CS 1 receive cash

in M iami - a m illion dollars every 15 days. FARHAT said that he charges 1.5% for money leaving

from Ciudad Del Este; 2% for money leaving from A suncion, Paraguay', and 3.5%  for cash

received in the United States or Brazil. The money would be routed to China or the United States.

FARHAT and CS 1 discussed where FARHAT could receive cash outside of the United States and

Paraguay, and FARHAT mentioned Dubai and Lebanon. An undercover agent (hereinafter û$UC''),

posing as an associate of CSI, subsequently delivered $250,000 in $100 bills to FARHAT in a

black backpack. FARHAT opened the bag and quickly counted the bundles of U.S. currency

handed to him . FARHAT then wired the money from Brazil to the UC account in installm ents.

9. ln Decem ber 2015, again at the direction of the DEA, CS 1 contacted FARHAT to

deliver $125,000 in M iami, Florida for FARHAT to launder the purported drug proceeds for CSl .

On December 14, 2015, FARHAT provided CS1 the name and phone num ber of a co-conspirator

in South Florida named Diya SALAM E as the person to receive the delivery of cash in M iami.

That same day, a DEA UC handed SALAM E a blue bag with $125,000 in $100 bills in the parking

lot of a bar/restaurant in Doral, Florida. After CS l confinned to FARHAT that the money had

been delivered, FARHAT sent two wires totaling $121,250 to a DEA UC account.
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M onev transm itter em ails between H ACHEM  and FARHAT

Based on search warrant obtained in 2014

dieselhdzol l@hotmail.com e-mail account, law enforcement agents found communications

between FARHAT and an em ail account, later identified as belonging to HACHEM , that indicated

FARHAT'S

HACHEM  was facilitating illicit m oney transfers for FARHAT.

1 1. The em ails between HACHEM  and FARHAT contained ledgers showing deposits,

withdrawals, and account balances and com munications regarding the timing of wire transfers and

what nam es to add to the wires. For example, HACHEM  sent FARHAT an attachm ent with a

ledger that contained a running tally of deposits m ade from January 7, 2013, to Septem ber 9, 2014,

and the amount of comm ission charged on the m oney received, under a colum n labeled

tûcom mission,'' with seemingly no additional profit from the transactions other than the

comm ission.

12. Based on m y training and experience both with the m ethods used by the conspirators

in this case
.
and other money laundering investigations, such a ledger retlects accounting for m oney

laundering activities, particularly because there would be no reason for HACHEM  to charge a

percentage com mission for receiving m oney from various entities and accounts if he were engaged

in the legitimate business of selling cell phones.

The em ails between HACHEM  and FARHAT also detailed numerous third-party

accounts through which money was wired to HACHEM . Such third-party m oney movem ents is

further evidence of trade-based m oney laundering because it adds a layer of protection or security

to conceal the source and owner of the money. For exam ple, on Septem ber 19, 2014, HACHEM

sent FARHAT an email entitled ûtW ire update,'' in which HA CHEM  stated, Ctcan you please let

me know how much you wired or how much you going g. . .j Youssef gonna ship him 900 pcs*
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57$ l will double check and about 750: 44$ But need something please. l have to pay 100k by

M onday so 1 can ship.'' On September 23, 2014, HACHEM  requested that FARHAT send CûTTF,''

which is an apparent reference to an invoice or receipt to justify the wire transfer. A few minutes

later, HACHEM sent FARHAT another email, with the subject line çûshipping Youssef,'' and

stated, tû1 need to contlilrm Youssef order for today before l ship.'' ln that email, HACHEM

included the names of several phones to be shipped. FARHAT then sent a $95,200 wire transfer

from a third-party account in Brazil to HACHEM 'S company, Class W ireless.

14. On or about October 27, 2014, HACHEM  sent another em ail to FARHAT, and stated,

ûlplease send 70k to this account.'' HACHEM  provided the nam e of a wireless wholesale com pany

in M ichigan and FARHAT replied, Cûneed company address.''

15. Based on a search warrant authorized in June 2018 by U.S. M agistrate Judge Edwin

Torres, agents searched FARHAT'S iphone obtained during his arrest. ln FARHAT'S phone,

agents found W hatsApp messages between FARHAT and a m oney transm itler in Hong Kong

discussing sending HACHEM  m oney. ln particular, on December 16, 2016, FARHAT tells the

Hong Kong money transmitter, 1i10k from houssam . Tell him pls.'' The Hong Kong m oney

transm itter responds, ûçok. U send now?'' On M ay l6, 2017, the Hong Kong money transm itter

stated in a W hatsApp audio m essage that ûûlletroit Houssam '' asked that FARHAT send the Hong

Kong money transmitter :û$3,000 extra'' for money that HACHEM owed on his balance. The next

day, on M ay 17, 2017, the Hong Kong money transm itter sent FARHAT a W hatsApp m essage

asking, ûkcan you help to take from USA houssam 3000usd?'' FARHAT responded, ûûYes l can.''

Denosits from  com nanies havine no leeitim ate business w ith H ACH EM

l 6. Am ong the third-party wires that HACHEM  received that were unconnected to any

sales of goods were more than $450,000 in wires from construction and flooring companies in the
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United States that, based on law enforcement surveillance and attempted interviews, do not appear

to be engaged in any legitimate business. ln the case of one purported construction company

located in N ew Jersey, the owner of the account adm itted to law enforcement that he was paid by

another person to use his bank account to transm it money and therefore conducted no legitimate

business with HACHEM . This construction company's account sent three deposits to HACHEM 'S

Simple W ireless account in December 2016, totaling $65,000. A similar pattern of deposits from

other sham com panies was discovered for other businesses related to HACHEM 'S co-conspirators

in Miami and elsewhere. In total, over $5.5 million has been identified as originating from

ûtconstruction'' company paym ents to businesses identified in this investigation as belonging to

HACHEM  or his co-conspirators.

HACHEM  also received deposits into his account from other companies that, based

on a review of m essages and business records related to HACHEM , did not conduct any legitim ate

business with HACHEM . For example, HACHEM  received num erous, round num ber deposits

from two wig companies York (hereinafter, ttW ig Company

and tiWig Company 235) that are indicative of a money laundering scheme, as shown in the chart

below :

Com pany transm itting Date of deposit into Am ount of deposit into HACHEM

mone HACHEM  account account

W ig Company 1 November 21, 2016 $7,000

W ig Company 1 December 14, 2016 $7,520

W ig Company 2 August 28, 2017 $6,845

W ig Company 2 October 1 1, 2017 $7,763

W ig Company 1 January 16, 2018 $15,000

W ig Company 1 February 9, 2018 $15,000
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W ig Company 1 February 13, 2018 $5,000

W ig Company 2 February 15, 2018 $10,709

W ig Company 2 M arch 6, 2018 $2,260

W ig Company 2 M arch 19, 2018 $6,161

W ig Company 1 M arch 26, 2018 $10,000

W ig Company 1 April 19, 20l 8 $7,500

W ig Company 1 April 23, 2018 $8,805

W ig Company 2 M ay 7, 2018 $10,850

W ig Company 1 M ay 29, 2018 $10,000

W ig Company 1 December 7, 2018 $10,000

W ig Company 1 December 7, 2018 $10,000

HACHEM also received large, round number deposits from a translation company in

South Florida (hereinafter,kt-franslation Company 15) that was unrelated to HACHEM'S cell

phone businesses and, therefore, indicative of money transmitting, as shown in the chart below :

Com pany transmitting Date of deposit into Am ount of deposit into
m one HACH EM  account HA CHEM  account

Translation Company 1 November 04, 2016 $12,800.00

Translation Company 1 December 14, 2016 $20,000.00

Translation Company l M ay 02, 2017 $60,000.00

Translation Company 1 July 10, 2017 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 July 31, 2017 $45,000.00

Translation Company 1 October 10, 2017 $10,000.00

Translation Company l December 1 1, 2017 $40,000.00
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Translation Company 1 December 14, 2017 $45,000.00

Translation Company 1 December 21, 2017 $60,000.00

Translation Company 1 December 27, 2017 $50,000.00

Translation Company 1 December 28, 2017 $16,000.00

Translation Company 1 February 02, 2018 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 M arch 05, 2018 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 March 28, 2018 $50,000.00

Translation Company l M ay 02, 2018 $45,000.00

Translation Company 1 May 07, 2018 $50,000.00

Translation Company 1 M ay 09, 2018 $50,000.00

Translation Company 1 July 06, 2018 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 August 29, 2018 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 September 06, 2018 $20,000.00

Translation Company 1 August 29, 2018 $40,000.00

Translation Company 1 September 06, 2018 $20,000.00

Structured cash denosits

HACHEM  received num erous structured cash deposits into his bank account. For

example, from February 4, 2015, through N ovember 9, 2015, 165 cash deposits totaling

$1,032,935 were made to HACHEM 'S Simple W ireless's Bank of America account. All of the

cash deposits were for amounts less $10,000. Conducting cash transactions in amounts less than

$10,000 is noteworthy because banks are required to report the identity of persons conducting cash

transactions greater than $10,000. From July 16, 2014, through August 1 1, 2014, HACHEM 'S

HW GK Enterprise lnc dba Class W ireless received nine cash deposits totaling $72,000 and a11 in
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amounts of $10,000 or less. Six of the deposits were made in M assachusetts and three were made

in Nevada. To illustrate the volume and type of structured cash deposits that HACHEM  routinely

received, below is a chart that shows the cash deposits into Simple Wireless fromjust one month:

Date of cash City and State of Cash Am ount of cash

de osit De osit de osit

February 4, 2015 Medford, MA $9,000.00

February 5, 2015 Medford, MA $4,000.00

February 5, 2015 Medford, MA $8,900.00

February 10, 2015 Medford, M A $9,000.00

February 1 1, 2015 Somerville, M A $8,500.00

February 12, 2015 M edford, M A $9,000.00

February 13, 2015 Somerville, M A $9,300.00

February 17, 2015 Detroit, M 1 $1,055.00

February 20, 2015 M edford, M A $9,500.00

February 23, 2015 M edford, M A $9,450.00

Febnlary 24, 2015 M edford, M A $9,225.00

February 25, 2015 Somerville, M A $9,800.00

February 26, 2015 M edford, M A $9,750.00

February 27, 2015 M edford, M A $9,625.00

CONCLUSION

20. Based on the foregoing, I subm it there is probable cause to believe that Houssam

HACHEM  conspired to comm it m oney laundering, based on the specified unlawful activity of

operating an unlicensed m oney transmitter business, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1960, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h)., and did knowingly
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and for the purpose of evading the reporting requirem ents of Title 31, United States Code, Section

5313(a), and any regulation promulgated thereunder, structure and assist in structuring,

transactions, that is, cash deposits into HACHEM 'S bank account, in violation of Title 31, United

States Code, Sections 5324($(3) and 5324(d)(1) and (2), and Title 18, United States Code, Section

j'-,'. . .4 zht )
Daniel M cNam ara, Special Agent

Drug Enforcement Administration

Sworn and sub crib be ore

m e this 31st y o c ob 2019.

HON . JO J. O SULLIVAN
UN ITED TAT M A GISTRATE JUDGE

11
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